## **RECEIVED**

# COURT OF APPEALS DISTRICT CLERK OF CO

CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

Appeal No. 2016AP000765CR

GEORGE MALLUM III,

Defendant-Appellant..

\_\_\_\_\_

#### APPELLANT'S BRIEF AND APPENDIX

\_\_\_\_\_

ON APPEAL FROM A JUDGMENT OF CONVICTION AND SENTENCE
OF THE CIRCUIT COURT OF MILWAUKEE COUNTY
HON. MEL FLANAGAN, PRESIDING
AND FROM A POSTCONVICTION DECISION AND ORDER
HON. MICHELLE ACKERMAN HAVAS, PRESIDING
CIRCUIT COURT CASE NO. 2014CM003050

ATTORNEY ALEX FLYNN State Bar I.D. No.01015056

Attorney for Defendant-Appellant

#### **ISSUES**

1. Should the judgment of conviction on Count 3 for disorderly conduct be reversed because it is multiplications of Count 2 for disorderly conduct, based on failure of proof, since the court never instructed the jury on the additional charge of domestic violence for Count 3, the verdict form did not ask the jury about guilt on the additional charge, and the jury did not find guilt on the additional charge, but it is only that charge which might make the disorderly conduct in Count 3 non-multiplications of the disorderly conduct in Count 2.

**TRIAL COURT ANSWER:** The trial judge, Hon. Mel Flanagan, denied defendant's post-trial motions [R.61] "without deciding the merits." [R.30]. Her successor for the post-conviction Motion, Hon. Michelle Ackerman Havas, answered No to this question in her Decision and Order Denying Postconviction Relief [R.49] because defendant ordered only the transcripts necessary for the appeal and Judge Havas's Decision said she wanted additional transcripts from the case, but she did not issue an Order for additional transcripts.

**2.** Even if the judgment of conviction on Count 3 for disorderly conduct is not reversed for multiplicitousness, should the sentence condition ordering defendant-appellant not to have guns for life be reversed because the court did not instruct the jury on the additional charge for domestic abuse, the additional charge was not on the verdict form, and the jury did not find guilt on the additional charge.

**TRIAL COURT ANSWER:** The trial judge, Hon. Mel Flanagan, denied defendant's post-trial motion "without deciding the merits." [R.30]. Her successor, Hon. Michelle Ackerman Havas, did not address this question in her Decision and Order Denying Motion for Postconviction Relief [R.49], even though it was the main issue in the post-conviction motion [R.45,pp.1,10-15,18].

**3.** Even if the judgment of conviction on Count 3 for disorderly conduct is not reversed for multiplicationsess, should the sentencing condition ordering defendant-appellant to pay a domestic abuse surcharge be reversed because the

court did not instruct the jury on the additional charge for domestic abuse, the additional charge was not on the verdict form, and the jury did not find guilt on the additional charge.

**TRIAL COURT ANSWER**: The trial judge, Hon Mel Flanagan, denied defendant's post-trial motion "without deciding the merits." [R.30]. Her successor, Hon. Michelle Ackerman Havas did not consider this question in her Decision And Order Denying Motion for Postconviction Relief [R.49], even though it was a main issue in the postconviction Motion [R.45, pp.1,16,18].

**4.** Is it a violation of due process under both the U.S. Constitution, Amendment V, and the Wisconsin Constitution, Art.I, sec. 8, to sentence defendant for a crime on which the jury was never instructed, which was never presented on the verdict form, and on which there was no guilty verdict?

**TRIAL COURT ANSWER:** The trial judge, Hon. Mel Flanagan, denied defendant's post-trial motion [R.61] "without deciding the merits." [R.30]. Her successor, Hon. Michelle Ackerman Havas, did not consider this question in her Decision And Order Denying Post-Conviction Relief [R.49], even though the argument was presented in the postconviction Motion [R.45, pp. 13-16].

5. Is 18 U.S.C.§922(g)(9), facially unconstitutional in light of the Supreme Court's decision in *District of Columbia v. Heller*, 554 U.S. 570 (2008), or unconstitutional *as applied* in this case because there was no jury verdict that Mallum was guilty of domestic abuse, and is Wis. Stat. § 973.055 also unconstitutional *as applied* because there was no jury verdict that Mallum was guilty of domestic abuse?

**TRIAL COURT ANSWER**: The trial judge, Hon. Mel Flanagan, denied defendant's post-trial motion [R.61] "without deciding the merits." [R.30]. Her successor, Hon. Michelle Ackerman Havas, did not consider these questions in her Decision and Order Denying Post-Conviction Relief [R.49], although the argument was presented in the postconviction Motion [R.45, pp. 16-18].

#### STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT

Defendant-Appellant requests oral argument.

#### STATEMENT ON PUBLICATION

The opinion in this matter should be published because this case meets the criteria for publication in Wis. Stat. § 809.23(1)(a) 2,4,&5. This case presents important constitutional issues and would also be the first Wisconsin case dealing with the application in Wisconsin of the federal Lautenberg Amendment, U.S.C.§922(g)(9).

However, because this case involved Class B misdemeanors, it is a one-judge appeal pursuant to Wis. Stat. §752.31(2)(f) and (3). Decisions by one court of appeals judge are not published, pursuant to Wis. Stat. §809.23(1)(b)4. Defendant – appellant filed a Motion for a three-judge panel under Wis. Stat. §809.41(1), but the court denied the Motion because it was filed two weeks after the Notice of Appeal was filed. Thus, for the decision to be published, it would require the chief judge either to change the denial of defendant's Motion for a three-judge panel, pursuant to 809.41(2), or to decide on the court's own Motion, pursuant to 809.41(3), to change this case to a three-judge appeal. Defendant-appellant requests the chief judge of the court to make this a three-judge case under either 809.41(2) or (3) and requests the panel to publish the opinion in this case.

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Defendant-appellant, George Mallum III, appeals his judgment of conviction, his sentence, and the court's denial of his postconviction motion. Mallum asks the court of appeals to reverse his judgment of conviction on Count 3 because it is multiplications of Count 2. However, even if the court does not reverse the conviction on Count 3 for multiplicitousness, Mallum asks the court of appeals to vacate the following two sentencing conditions on due process grounds: (1) barring his ownership of guns for his lifetime, since there was no basis in law for the court to impose this condition because he was not found guilty of domestic abuse; and (2) ordering him to pay a domestic abuse surcharge, even though he was not found guilty of domestic abuse. In the alternative, Mallum argues that the lifetime ban on his possessing guns should be overturned because the Lautenberg Amendment, 18 U.S.C.922(g)(9), which imposes a lifetime ban on the possession of guns on those convicted of domestic abuse, is facially unconstitutional in light of *District of Columbia v. Heller*, 554 U.S. 570 (2008), and is also unconstitutional as applied in his case. Additionally, as an alternative, the domestic abuse surcharge should be overturned because Wis. Stat. §973.055 is unconstitutional as applied.

#### A. Procedural Facts

On July 23, 2015, a jury found Mallum guilty of two Class B misdemeanor counts of disorderly conduct [R.28,29 and Ap.125-127], and guilty of Use (possession) of a Dangerous Weapon while committing one of the misdemeanors. Trial Counsel, S.A. Schapiro, filed Post Trial Motions of Defendant and Brief [R.61] on August 19, 2015. The trial judge, Hon. Mel Flanagan, issued a Decision and Order Denying Post-Trial Motions [R.30] on August 26, 2015. The court denied the defendant's post-trial motions "without deciding the merits." [R.30]. The court mainly denied the motions because she said they were "premature" since sentencing had not taken place, and she concluded that the motions appeared to be more in the nature of postconviction motions filed pursuant to Wis. Stat., Rule 809.30. [R.30]

The sentencing hearing was held on October 15, 2015 [Ap. 132-150] and the judgment of conviction was entered on October 27, 2015. [Ap. 101-103].

After sentencing, the following documents were filed on October 22, 2015; (1) a signed Notice of Right to Seek Postconviction Relief [R.34]; (2) a Notice of Intent to Pursue Post-Conviction Relief [R.35]; and a letter from trial Counsel, Attorney S.A. Schapiro, to the Clerk of Courts, Criminal Division. [Ap. 148]. That letter indicated to the clerk which transcripts Attorney Schapiro

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>Record items in Appendix will be cited as Ap. The Record cite for Items in Appendix will be given in the Appendix Table of Contents. Cites only to the Record will be R.

had ordered for the postconviction motion and the appeal. Attorney Schapiro requested three transcripts: (1) the instructions to the jury in the A.M. of 7/23/15 [Christine Zapf, Reporter]; (2) the proceedings on receipt of the verdict in the P.M. of 7/23/15 [Katherine Nelson, Reporter]; and (3) the sentencing hearing on 10/15/15 [Patricia Frkovich, Reporter]. The last of those transcripts was filed by Christine Zapf on 2/5/16.

Attorney Schapiro was permitted to withdraw as counsel for the defendant in all appellate proceedings by an Order of the Court filed October 28, 2015.

[R.38]. A second Notice of Intent to Pursue Post Dispositive Relief was filed on October 28, 2015. [R.37]. Undersigned counsel, Alex Flynn, came onto this case for the appeal and filed the postconviction motion on March 10, 2016

[R.45], which was within 60 days of the February 5, 2016 filing of the last requested transcript, pursuant to the requirements of Wis. Stat. § 809.30(2)(h). The motion asked the court to overturn the conviction on Count 3 as multiplicitous of Count 2, and to remove the sentencing condition ordering a lifetime ban on guns and the payment of a domestic abuse surcharge because Mallum was not found guilty of domestic abuse. It also raised constitutional issues related to the relevant statutes.

On March 11, Steven Cotter, a staff attorney in the circuit court's criminal division, wrote to undersigned counsel, Attorney Alex Flynn, saying

that the court needed a transcript of the motion hearing before Judge Flanagan on multiplicity before the postconviction motion would be decided, and also that it would be necessary for Alex Flynn to get an extension of time from the court of appeals for the circuit court to retain jurisdiction. [Ap. 104]. On March 15, 2016, Alex Flynn responded that all the transcripts necessary for the appeal had been ordered and that, without a direct Order from the court requiring him to request an additional transcript, he could not risk acting outside the prescribed statutory time for appeal, based only on the letter from the staff attorney [Ap. 105]. On March 23, 2016, Hon Michelle Ackerman Havas, who was the successor judge to Judge Flanagan in the trial court, then issued a Decision and Order Denying Postconviction Relief. [Ap. 105].

Notice of Appeal was filed in Circuit Court on April 12, 2016. A Motion to convert the case from a one-judge appeal to a three-judge appeal was filed on May 2, 2016. The Motion was denied, but said the court could decide in the future on its own Motion to change it to a three-judge case. The circuit court Record of the case was filed in the Court of Appeals on June 1, 2016.

#### **B.** Facts of the Case

George Mallum's wife called the police on June 30, 2014 when Mallum came home drunk and wanted to know why his gun was not in his drawer. He became loud and belligerent. She told him it was in the safe in another room

where their teenage grandson was sleeping. Mallum got his gun out of the safe and was yelling at his wife that he wanted the magazine for the gun. The grandson woke up. Mrs. Mallum slipped out of the room and called the police because she said she did not know if the gun was loaded or not. When the South Milwaukee police arrived, they entered the home and found Mallum sitting on a sofa with his arm around his grandson and the unloaded gun on the floor. The police arrested Mallum. He allegedly yelled an obscene comment about his wife as the police were taking him from the house, and perhaps also the same comment to a female police officer. (This summary is taken from the Amended Complaint [Ap.111], from the transcripts of trial testimony of Mallum's wife [R.55] and Mallum's grandson [R.54], and from the closing arguments of the D.A. [R.56, pp.20-28, 38-41] and of defense counsel [R.56, pp. 28-38]).

Mallum was charged with the following three counts in the Amended Complaint. [Ap. 110-111].

- Count 1 Endangering Safety By Use of a Dangerous Weapon (Pointing), Domestic Abuse
- Count 2 Disorderly Conduct, Use of a Dangerous Weapon
- Count 3 Disorderly Conduct, Domestic Abuse

The jury failed to return a verdict on Count 1 and that count was dismissed on the prosecutor's motion. [Ap. 101 & Ap.127, lines 5-10]. The jury found Mallum guilty of disorderly conduct and possession of a gun for count 2.

[R.28]. The jury also found Mallum guilty of count 3 [R.29], but they had not been instructed on domestic abuse [Ap.117-120], as they had been instructed for gun possession in Count 2 [Ap.117]. Moreover, there was no separate guilty verdict on domestic abuse for Count 3 [Ap. 127, lines 1-3 & R.29], as there had been for gun possession in Count 2 [Ap.126, lines 20-25 & R.28]. A judgment of conviction was entered against Mallum on both counts 2 and 3, including the domestic abuse charge for Count 3. [Ap. 101]. Mallum is appealing the conviction on count 3 on grounds that it is multiplicitous of count 2 because there is nothing to distinguish the disorderly conduct in count 3 from the disorderly conduct in count 2, since he was not found guilty of domestic abuse under count 3. He also appeals two sentencing conditions related to Count 3.

Mallum was sentenced on count 2 to 9 months (consecutive to count 3) in the House of Corrections and on Count 3 to 3 months (consecutive to count 2) in the House of Corrections. [Ap. 101]. Both sentences were stayed and defendant was given 2 years probation. [Ap. 101]. As part of the sentence, the court also issued conditions, two of which are challenged in this appeal. The first challenged condition is entitled "Firearms/Weapons Restrictions." [Ap. 102]. It stated that Mallum was to have "No firearms; weapons. No knives or weapons in his possession or on his person." [Ap. 102]. Mallum is not challenging this firearms and weapons prohibition as a condition of probation, but he is

challenging the second sentence of this condition: "48 [sic]<sup>2</sup> USC Section 922(g)(9) prohibits possession of a firearm and/or ammunition after conviction of a misdemeanor crime of domestic violence." [Ap. 102]. Mallum challenges this section of the Firearms sentencing condition because he was not found guilty of a crime of domestic violence. The court also seemed to add a probation component to this lifetime ban on guns when the court stated at sentencing that the lifetime ban on guns "is a requirement under federal law. It's also a condition of your probation." [Ap. 145, lines 6-8]. Therefore, Mallum is also challenging this statement, insofar as it could be interpreted to mean that, even without the federal law, the court was imposing on him a lifetime ban on guns as a condition of his probation, without any Wisconsin statutory authority to do so.

A second sentencing condition Mallum is challenging in the judgment of conviction is entitled "Costs." He is challenging the provision ordering him to pay a domestic violence surcharge, [Ap. 102], because the jury did not find Mallum guilty of domestic violence or domestic abuse. [R.29].

Insofar as the Decision and Order Denying Motion for Postconviction Relief [R..49] is the appealable document in this case, as the final decision issued in the trial court, the court of appeals should be aware that this document did not address Mallum's entire postconviction motion. [See the Summary of

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> The judgment of conviction is wrong in its cite of federal law. It should be 18 USC, not 48 USC.

Motion and Conclusion of the Motion at Ap. 106-107 and entire motion at R.45]. It was issued by the successor judge in this case, Hon. Michelle Ackerman Havas, who was not the judge for the trial and the sentencing and thus did not actually know anything about this case. Thus, the court of appeals should not limit its consideration in this case to the issue of multiplicitousness, which is the only issue from the postconviction motion that Judge Havas addressed.

Judge Havas's Decision denying the postconviction motion was unfair to Mallum as a response to the postconviction motion because it did not address the sentencing conditions issues in the postconviction motion, and it was based only on the fact that Mallum's appeal counsel refused the request of a staff attorney for additional transcripts. [Ap. 108, 109]. Yet, all the transcripts judged necessary for the appeal had been timely requested, and the time was long past under Wis. Stat. § 809.30(2)(f) which prescribes that a defendant "shall" request transcripts within 30 days of filing the Notice to Seek Postconviction Relief. Moreover, there is no provision in the statute for requesting an extension of this time period from the court of appeals, especially on the basis of merely a request from a staff attorney, and in the absence of any Order from the trial court for additional transcripts. Thus, Mallum requests the court of appeals to consider all the issues in this instant brief related to the judgment of conviction

and sentence and not to consider only the issue addressed in Judge Havas's Order, even if that is the appealable document in the case. Moreover, the court of appeals should consider all the issues because a final order brings forward the whole case and permits other issues from the case to be appealed.

#### **ARGUMENT**

#### I. STANDARD OF REVIEW

The first issue in this case is multiplicity, which comes under the prohibition of double jeopardy in both the Fifth Amendment to the United States Constitution and Art. 1, sec. 8(1) of the Wisconsin Constitution. The Wisconsin Court of Appeals has said, "Whether a multiplicity violation exists in a given case is a question of law that we review *de novo. State v. Koller*, 2001 WI App. 253, ¶32, 248 Wis.2d 259, 635 N.W.2d 838, *citing State v. Reynolds*, 206 Wis.2d 356, 363, 557 N.W.2d 821 (Ct. App. 1996).

The other issues in this case deal with sentencing. However, they involve constitutional issues and so cannot be reviewed under the traditional deferential standard of review for sentencing. The argument here is that there was sentencing without any finding of guilt on the elements of the crime. "It has been settled throughout our history that the Constitution protects every criminal defendant "against conviction except upon proof beyond a reasonable doubt of every fact necessary to constitute the crime with which he is charged." *U.S. v.* 

Booker, 543 U.S. 220, 230 (2005), citing In re Winship, 397 U.S. 358, 364 (1970). "It is equally clear that the 'Constitution gives a criminal defendant the right to demand that a jury find him guilty of all the elements of the crime with which he is charged'." Booker, 543 U.S. at 230, quoting United States v. Gaudin, 515 U.S. 506, 511 (1995). These basic constitutional questions regarding two sentencing conditions in this case are issues of law which require de novo review.

II. THE JUDGMENT OF CONVICTION ON COUNT 3 SHOULD BE REVERSED AND THE RELATED SENTENCING CONDITIONS VACATED BECAUSE COUNT 3 FOR DISORDERLY CONDUCT IS MULTIPLICITOUS OF COUNT 2 FOR DISORDERLY CONDUCT, SINCE THE JURY WAS NOT INSTRUCTED ON THE ELEMENTS OF THE CHARGE OF DOMESTIC ABUSE IN COUNT 3 AND THERE WAS NO VERDICT OF GUILT FOR DOMESTIC ABUSE.

George Mallum was convicted of two counts of disorderly conduct in violation of Wis. Stat. §947.01(1). Each count for disorderly conduct had an additional charge added to it. This section of the brief concerns the additional charge of domestic abuse for Count 3, the failure of the trial court to instruct the jury on the elements of that charge, the lack of a verdict for that charge, and the punishment given at sentencing related to that charge. since no guilt was found by the jury for that charge. The conviction on Count 3 should be reversed

because, without that additional charge, Count 3 for disorderly conduct is multiplications of Count 2 for disorderly conduct.

Count 3 for disorderly conduct had added to it a charge for domestic abuse as a violation of Wis. Stat. § 968.075(1)(a). [Ap.110-111]. Count 2 had added to it a charge for Use (possession) of a Dangerous Weapon as a violation of Wis. Stat. 939.63(1)(a). [Ap. 110]. The trial court gave the pattern jury instruction on both disorderly conduct and use (possession) of a dangerous weapon for Count 2<sup>3</sup>. [Ap. p. 114, line 20 to p. 117, line 20]. The trial court repeated the exact, same instruction on disorderly conduct for Count 3, but the trial court gave no instruction to the jury for the charge of domestic abuse in Count 3. [Ap. p. 117, line 20 to p. 120, line 10]. Moreover, the court told the jury at the start of instructing on Count 3 that the only difference between conduct in Count 2 and Count 3 was that Count 3 was "not while armed." [Ap. 117, lines 21-25]. The court did not say that the difference was also that Count 3 included the charge that the disorderly conduct involved domestic abuse. The difference of "not while armed" goes only to the additional charge in Count 2,

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> It should be noted that there was no evidence that Mallum "used" a gun, which is the word contained in the title of Wis. Stat. § 939.63. There was only evidence that he "possessed" a gun while committing disorderly conduct, and "possession" during a crime is prohibited by subsection (1)(a) of Wis. Stat. § 939.63. The court correctly instructed the jury on "possession," not "use." An indication that Mallum only "possessed" a gun during the disorderly conduct incident, but did not "use" it, is the fact that the jury failed to return a guilty verdict on Count 1, "Intentionally Point Firearm at Person," which would have constituted "use" of a gun.

"Use (possession) of a Dangerous Weapon." It says nothing about any difference between the disorderly conduct in each count.

Also of note is the fact that the court likewise did not give any instruction on the additional charge of Domestic Abuse for Count 1 [Ap. 113, line 13 to 114, line 19]. Thus, it cannot be argued that the jury knew the elements for Domestic Abuse when they considered Count 3 because they had already heard those elements in the instructions for Count 1.

Besides no separate jury instruction for the domestic abuse charge in Count 3, there was also no separate verdict question on the domestic abuse charge for Count 3, although there was a separate verdict question for the additional charge in Count 2. [Ap. 121-122 & R.28,29]. It should be noted, that the court used the verdict questions submitted by the State. [R.56,p.4,line 25 to page 5,line 8]. The State did not request a verdict question on domestic abuse which it should have done to meet its burden of proof on the additional charge of domestic abuse in Count 3.

Since the court did not instruct the jury on domestic abuse, it was impossible for the jury to find that Mallum violated the elements of the domestic abuse statute. Besides the verdict forms themselves [R.28,29], the transcript of

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Since Count 1 was eventually dismissed for lack of a verdict, it is irrelevant that the court did not instruct on the charge of domestic abuse for Count 1. Moreover, the State had apparently dismissed the domestic abuse charge in Count 1 before trial .[Ap. 132, lines 16-18].

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