## RECEIVED

#### STATE OF WISCONSIN **09-15-2016**

#### COURT OF APPEALS CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

#### DISTRICT I

Appeal Case No. 2016AP000765-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

vs.

GEORGE W. MALLUM, III,

Defendant-Appellant.

ON APPEAL FROM A JUDGMENT OF CONVICTION AND SENTENCE ENTERED IN MILWAUKEE COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT, THE HONORABLE MEL FLANAGAN, PRESIDING AND FROM A POSTCONVICTION DECISION AND ORDER ENTERED IN MILWAUKEE COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT, THE HONORABLE MICHELLE ACKERMAN HAVAS, PRESIDING

#### **BRIEF OF PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT**

John T. Chisholm District Attorney Milwaukee County

Kristin M. Schrank Assistant District Attorney State Bar No. 1073997

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

#### ARGUMENT

I. Mr. Mallum's conviction on Count 3 of the amended criminal complaint should not be vacated.

#### a. Mr. Mallum's conviction on count 3 of the amended criminal complaint should not be vacated based upon multiplicity grounds.

Multiplicity is defined as the charging of a single criminal offense in more than one count. *Harrell v. State*, 88 Wis. 2d 546, 555, 277 N.W.2d 462, 464-65 (Ct. App. 1979). In Wisconsin, courts employ a two-prong test when analyzing a multiplicity problem. Under the first prong, courts inquire whether the charged offenses are identical in law and fact. If they are, the charges are multiplicitous. *State v. Rabe*, 96 Wis. 2d 48, 63, 291 N.W.2d 809, 816 (1980). However, if the charges are different in law or fact, they may still be multiplicitous under the second prong. *State v. Tappa*, 127 Wis. 2d 155, 164, 378 N.W.2d 883, 887 (1985). Under that test, the charges are multiplicitous if the legislature intended them to be brought as a single count. *Id*.

Count 2 and Count 3 are not identical in fact. Count 2 was disorderly conduct while using a dangerous weapon and Count 3 was disorderly conduct. Count 2, unlike Count 3, required proof that the jury find that Mr. Mallum possessed a dangerous weapon while he acted disorderly. As noted in the State's arguments to the jury, Count 2 involved Mr. Mallum arguing with his wife while he was waving a firearm around. Count 3, comparatively, involved Mr. Mallum using inappropriate language toward his wife after officers arrived on scene. These are different facts. Moreover, these offenses were separated, albeit in a very short time-frame, by Mr. Mallum's grandson intervening and disarming Mr. Mallum. Simply put, a jury could find Mr. Mallum guilty of one of the offenses while not guilty of the other. In the case at hand, the jury found sufficient evidence to convict Mr. Mallum of both counts.

#### b. Mr. Mallum's conviction on Count 3 of the amended criminal complaint should not be vacated based upon the court's failure to instruct the jury on the issue of whether the crime was domestic violence.

Mr. Mallum argues that his conviction for disorderly conduct on Count 3 should be vacated because the jury was not

instructed as to the definition of Domestic Abuse. While Mr. Mallum argues that Domestic Abuse is an additional charge, in fact Domestic Abuse is a modifier based upon Wisconsin Statute Section 968.075. Wisconsin Statute Section 968.075 is found within Chapter 968. This chapter of the Wisconsin Statutes deals with the commencement of criminal proceedings. More specifically, Wisconsin Statute Section 968.075 involves law enforcement procedures for domestic abuse arrests and prosecutions. This section does not delineate a penalty for an individual who commits an offense described.

Wisconsin Statute Section 968.075 can be directly compared to both the penalty enhancer of use of a dangerous weapon found in Wisconsin Statute Section 939.63 as well as the domestic abuse surcharge found in Wisconsin Statute Section 973.055. Wisconsin Statute Section 939.63 is found within Chapter 939 which is captioned "Crimes—Generally." Unlike Wisconsin Statute Section 968.075, it also includes a penalty section dependent upon the underlying offense.

Wisconsin Statute Section 973.055 assesses a domestic abuse surcharge when a court imposes a sentence for specified crimes (including disorderly conduct) and *the court* finds that the conduct constituting the violation involved an act by the adult person against his or her spouse. Wis. Stat. § 973.055 [emphasis added]. Of note is the fact that the statute that discusses the domestic abuse surcharge is found within Chapter 973. This chapter of the Wisconsin Statutes deals with sentencing, an issue left to the discretion of the court, rather than a jury. Moreover, the statute's second clause indicates that the court, rather than the fact-finder, determines whether the conduct constituting the violation involved a specified relationship.

In this case, the jury was asked to consider three counts. The jury found Mr. Mallum guilty on two of the counts, Counts 2 and 3. As for Count 2, given the penalty enhancer, the jury was required to answer whether the State proved that Mr. Mallum possessed a dangerous weapon while committing the offense of disorderly conduct. The jury found that the State had proven that it had. At the time of sentencing, the trial court made a specific finding that Mr. Mallum's disorderly conduct conviction in Count 3 qualified him for the domestic abuse surcharge under 973.055 given the offense he was convicted of, disorderly conduct, and the relationship that existed between Mr. Mallum and the person that the act involved. Given that the trial court followed the proscriptions of Wisconsin Statute Section 973.055 there is no grounds to vacate the conviction or sentence.

# **II.** The conditions imposed on Mr. Mallum by the trial court were appropriate.

Mr. Mallum contends that it was error for the court to add the condition to his "sentence" that he could not have a gun for the rest of his life. First, it is important to note that Mr. Mallum was given a probationary disposition. Probation is not a sentence. *Prue v. State*, 63 Wis. 2d 109, 114, 216 N.W.2d 43, 45 (1974).

Wisconsin Statute Section 973.09 comprehensively outlines a sentencing court's ability to place an individual on probation in lieu of imposing a sentence. It states that "if a person is convicted of a crime, the court, by order, may withhold sentence or impose sentence under section 973.15 and stay its execution, and in either case place the person on probation to the department for a stated period, stating in the order the reasons therefor. The court may impose any conditions which appear to be reasonable and appropriate." Wis. Stat. § 973.09. The court has "broad discretion in fashioning a convicted individual's condition of probation." State v. Oakley, 2001 WI 103, ¶ 12, 245 Wis. 2d 447, 460, 629 N.W.2d 200, 205. When granting a probationary disposition instead of incarceration, the court must take "reasonable judicial measures to protect society and potential victims from future wrongdoing." Oakley, 2001 WI at ¶ 12, 245 Wis. 2d at 461, 629 N.W.2d at 206.

In Mr. Mallum's case, the court heard a jury trial about an incident involving Mr. Mallum waving a firearm around while engaging in an argument with his wife. Mr. Mallum was subsequently disarmed and continued to be disorderly. The court was within its discretion to consider those facts and order that Mr. Mallum not possess a firearm while he was on probation. Mr. Mallum further argues that it was error for the court to add the condition to his "sentence" that he could not have a gun for the rest of his life. In point of fact, the court did not impose such a condition: the court cautioned Mr. Mallum that under federal law, he was prohibited from possessing a firearm, as a result of the conviction, because the court had determined that the offense was a "misdemeanor crime of domestic violence." Rather than imposing a condition of a sentence, the court was providing notice of a consequence of his conviction.

Under 18 U.S.C. § 922(g)(9), it is "unlawful for any person...who has been convicted...of a misdemeanor crime of domestic violence...[to] possess in or affecting commerce, any firearm or ammunition." *See U.S. v. Hayes*, 555 U.S. 415, 420-21, 426 (2009). This can be further broken into two parts: an individual is convicted of a misdemeanor offense and that the misdemeanor offense "has, as an element, the use or attempted use of physical force, or the threatened use of a deadly weapon, committed by a current or former spouse...." 18 U.S.C. § 921(a)(33)(A).

The court of appeals of Wisconsin has considered whether disorderly conduct is a misdemeanor offense with an element of use or attempted use of physical force. In *Evans v. Wis. DOJ*, 2014 WI App 31, 353 Wis. 2d 289, 844 N.W.2d 403, the court of appeals affirmed the Department of Justice's decision to deny Mr. Evans a license to carry a concealed weapon based upon a disorderly conduct conviction. The court utilized the "modified categorical approach" and consulted the criminal complaint and plea transcript to find that Mr. Evans' conviction was for a misdemeanor offense with an element of use or attempted use of physical force. The court pointed out that Mr. Evans failed to show a single case in which a court had concluded that disorderly conduct never qualified as a misdemeanor crime of domestic violence. *Evans*, 2014 WI App at ¶ 21, 353 Wis. 2d at 299, 844 N.W.2d at 407.

In the case at hand, the sentencing court, after hearing the trial testimony made a determination that it qualified for the federal prohibition. Separate from the trial testimony, both the criminal complaint and the jury trial instruction transcripts show that violent was one of the descriptors used for the conduct that Mr. Mallum was charged and convicted of. Given this review, the court's finding is supported by both law and fact. The fact remains, however, that in advising Mr. Mallum that he could not possess a firearm in the future, the court was not imposing a condition of his sentence: instead, the court was giving notice that possessing a firearm could subject him to prosecution at another time, in a different jurisdictional forum.

#### III. The trial court appropriately ordered Mr. Mallum to pay the domestic abuse surcharge.

As noted above, Mr. Mallum was convicted of an offense listed under Wisconsin Statute Section 973.055(1)(a)1. The sentencing court found that the disorderly conduct charge involved an act by Mr. Mallum against his spouse. Therefore, the court's order for Mr. Mallum to pay the domestic abuse surcharge was appropriate.

#### IV. The court should not find that 18 U.S.C. § 922 is facially unconstitutional or unconstitutional as applied in this case.

Mr. Mallum claims that 18 U.S.C. § 922 is facially unconstitutional and unconstitutional as applied in this case. Mr. Mallum has not been charged with a violation of 18 U.S.C. § 922. If Mr. Mallum is later charged with 18 U.S.C. § 922 in federal court, the appropriate forum for this issue will be a federal court where that court will determine the constitutionality of a federal statute. Since Mr. Mallum's issue is not ripe for determination, more specifically, it is based upon hypotheticals and future facts, the court should not address this issue. See Pension Management, Inc. v. DuRose, 58 Wis. 2d 122, 128, 205 N.W.2d 553, 555 (1973); State v. Verhagen, 198 Wis. 2d 177, 194 fn. 3, 542 N.W.2d 189, 194 fn. 3 (Ct. App. 1995).

#### V. The court should not find that Wisconsin Statute § 973.055 is unconstitutional as applied in this case.

Mr. Mallum claims that the application of a domestic abuse surcharge is unconstitutional as applied to him because he is subject to punishment without a determination by a trier of fact of guilt. A statute is presumed to be constitutional. *Janssen*, 219 Wis. 2d at 370, 580 N.W.2d at 263. A party challenging a statute's constitutionality bears the burden of proving the statute unconstitutional beyond a reasonable doubt. *State v. Cole*, 2003 WI 112, ¶ 11, 264 Wis. 2d 520, 531, 665 N.W.2d 328, 333.

Mr. Mallum fails to distinguish the facts of his case from any other set of facts in which a person has been assessed a domestic abuse surcharge. The criminal complaint and the amended criminal complaint both contained notice that Mr. Mallum could be subject to the domestic abuse surcharge under Wisconsin Statute Section 973.055. While admittedly, the jury was not asked whether Count 3 was an act of domestic abuse, the statute specifically notes that the court will make that determination. After that determination is made, the sentencing court is without discretion and shall impose the surcharge unless it determines that the imposition of the surcharge would have a negative impact on the offender's family. Wis. Stat. § 973.055.

This is very different from a situation in which the jury would be asked whether the crime was an act of domestic abuse. An example of that is the situation where a person is charged as a domestic abuse repeater. In that situation the jury must determine whether the underlying charge was an act of domestic abuse because it will have an impact on whether the classification of the crime is elevated from a misdemeanor to a felony and whether an individual's potential penalty increases. A surcharge is an obligation which itself is not a sentence or a component of a sentence. *State v. Galvan*, 2007 WI App 173, ¶ 12, 304 Wis. 2d 466, 475, 736 N.W.2d 890, 894. Given that the penalty did not change in Mr. Mallum's situation because surcharges are not penalties, it was not required that the question of the domestic abuse surcharge be put to a jury's decision.

#### CONCLUSION

Mr. Mallum's conviction on Count 3 of the amended criminal complaint should not be vacated. Counts 2 and 3 were not identical in fact and convictions as to both are not

multiplicitous. Mr. Mallum's conviction on Count 3 of the amended criminal complaint should not be vacated based upon the fact that the jury was not asked to determine whether the defense was an act of domestic abuse. Determination of whether an offense is an act of domestic abuse is applicable if the penalty is increased. In the present case, Mr. Mallum was not charged as a domestic violence repeater and the potential penalty did not increase. While the court did impose the domestic abuse surcharge it did so in conformity with Wisconsin Statute Section 973.055. Mr. Mallum has failed to prove beyond a reasonable doubt that application of the surcharge was unconstitutional as applied to him. Finally, the court should not address the application of the federal firearms prohibition as Mr. Mallum currently does not have standing to raise this issue nor would this be the appropriate venue for that issue to be raised. Accordingly, the court should deny Mr. Mallum's appeal.